Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Minyoung Lee

Date

REDOX-SENSITIVE REGULATION OF MRTF-A

PHOSPHORYLATION VIA PALLADIN IN VASCULAR SMOOTH

MUSCLE CELL DIFFERENTIATION

By

Minyoung Lee Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Molecular and Systems Pharmacology Program

> Kathy K. Griendling, Ph.D. Advisor

Lou Ann Brown, Ph.D. Committee Member

Roy Sutliff, Ph.D. Committee Member

Michael E. Davis, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

ABSTRACT

REDOX-SENSITIVE REGULATION OF MRTF-A PHOSPHORYLATION VIA PALLADIN IN VASCULAR SMOOTH MUSCLE CELL DIFFERENTIATION

By

Minyoung Lee

Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) undergo phenotypic changes in cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis and restenosis. Differentiated VSMCs have robust stress fibers and express contractile proteins, such as smooth muscle α -actin (SMA), necessary for vascular function. Loss of the differentiated phenotype has been observed in disease processes. Understanding the mechanisms involved in these changes is important in understanding and treating these diseases. Our previous studies indicate that transforming growth factor β -1 (TGF- β) induces reactive oxygen species (ROS) through NADPH oxidase 4 (Nox4), which modulate activity of myocardin-related transcription factor A (MRTF-A) and serum response factor (SRF), transcription factors that regulate expression of prodifferentiation genes such as SMA. Regulation of these factors is incompletely understood, but evidence exists for an interaction of MRTF-A with the actin-binding protein, palladin, although how this interaction affects MRTF-A function is unclear. In this thesis, we tested the hypothesis that Rho kinase (ROCK)-mediated phosphorylation of MRTF-A is a key event in the regulation of SRF responsive genes in VSMCs and that this phosphorylation is dependent upon Nox4-mediated palladin expression

and interaction with phosphatase PP2A. Knockdown of Nox4 using siRNA decreases TGF- β -induced palladin expression and MRTF-A phosphorylation suggesting redox-sensitive regulation of the proteins. The phosphorylation of MRTF-A is mediated by ROCK and inhibition of this kinase resulted in a decrease in SMA expression. Palladin also regulates this phosphorylation, because knockdown of palladin decreases MRTF-A phosphorylation. Coimmunoprecipitation assay showed palladin binds to protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A), suggesting the idea that palladin may sequester PP2A from MRTF-A, which results in prevention of MRTF-A dephosphorylation. These data suggest that ROCK-mediated phosphorylation of MRTF-A is important in regulation of SRF responsive gene expression. Furthermore, the data support the idea that the MRTF-A phosphorylation is controlled by Nox4-mediated palladin expression and interaction with PP2A. Therefore, the novel role of Nox4 and palladin in phosphorylation of MRTF-A and subsequent differentiation gene expression in VSMCs may offer a new therapeutic target for atherosclerosis and restenosis.

REDOX-SENSITIVE REGULATION OF MRTF-A PHOSPHORYLATION VIA PALLADIN IN VASCULAR SMOOTH MUSCLE CELL DIFFERENTIATION

by

Minyoung Lee

M.S., Kyungpook National University, 2008

Advisor: Kathy K. Griendling, Ph.D.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

in

Molecular and Systems Pharmacology Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page #		
CHAPTER I: Introduction				
1.1	Diseases: Atherosclerosis, In-stent restenosis	2		
1.2	Reactive Oxygen Species and NADPH Oxidase Signaling	3		
1.3	TGF- β -mediated Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation Signaling	6		
1.4	MRTF-A and SRF	7		
1.5	Palladin	10		
1.6	Overall Hypothesis	12		
CHAP	TER 2: Role of Palladin, Nox4 and MRTF-A in Vascular	15		
Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation Gene Expression				
2.1	Introduction	16		
2.2	Methods	17		
2.3	Experimental Results	20		
2.3.1	TGF- β -induces Palladin and SMA Expression	20		
2.3.2	TGF- β -induced SMA Expression Requires Palladin	21		
2.3.3	Induction of Palladin by TGF- β is Redox-Sensitive	21		
2.3.4	siNOX4 Blocks Palladin and SMA Expression	21		
2.3.5	TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Abolished by	27		
	siPalladin			
2.3.6	TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Redox-Sensitive	31		

2.3.7	siNOX4 Blocks MRTF-A Phosphorylation and its Expression	31
2.3.8	TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Mediated by ROCK	31
2.3.9	Palladin Does Not Affect Nuclear Localization of MRTF-A	
2.3.10	Palladin May Sequester PP2A from MRTF-A by Binding to	37
	PP2A	
2.4	Discussion	39

CHAPTER 3: Discussion

INDEX OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1.1	-	TGF- β -induced Redox-Sensitive Regulation of MRTF-A	14
		Phosphorylation via Sequestration of PP2A by Palladin	
		in VSMC Differentiation	
Figure 2.1	-	TGF- β -induced Palladin and SMA Expression	22
Figure 2.2	-	TGF-β-induced SMA Expression Requires Palladin	23
Figure 2.3	-	Induction of Palladin by TGF- β is Redox-Sensitive	24
Figure 2.4	-	siNOX4 Decreases mRNA Levels of NOX4	25
Figure 2.5	-	siNOX4 Inhibits Palladin and SMA Expression	26
Figure 2.6	-	TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Molecular Weight Shift is	28
		Abolished by siPalladin	
Figure 2.7	-	Alkaline Phosphatase Diminishes Molecular Weight	29
		Shift in MRTF-A	
Figure 2.8	-	Knockdown of MRTF-A Does Not Alter TGF- β -induced	30
		Palladin Expression	
Figure 2.9	-	TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Redox-	33
		Sensitive	
Figure 2.10	-	siNOX4 Blocks MRTF-A Phosphorylation and its	34
		Expression	
Figure 2.11	-	TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Mediated	35
		by ROCK	

Figure 2.12	-	Palladin Does Not Affect Nuclear Localization of		36	
		MRTF-A			
Figure 2.13	-	Palladin Binds to PP2A		38	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

MAPK	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
MRTF	Myocardin-Related Transcription Factor
NAC	N-acetyl Cysteine
Nox	NAPDH oxidase
PP1	Protein Phosphatase 1
PP2A	Protein Phosphatase 2A
ROCK	Rho kinase
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SOD	Superoxide Dismutase
SMA	Smooth Muscle α -Actin
SM-MHC	Smooth Muscle Myosin Heavy Chain
SM22α	Smooth Muscle 22 alpha
SRF	Serum Response Factor
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor- β 1
VSMC	Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 Diseases: Atherosclerosis, In-stent restenosis

In the vasculature, differentiated vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) are critical for physiological homeostasis. VSMCs provide structural support for the vasculature and modulate contractility to regulate blood flow and pressure. However, VSMCs retain remarkable plasticity even in adult animals, which means that they modulate their phenotype from differentiated to dedifferentiated in response to extracellular stimuli, whereas the skeletal muscle and cardiac muscle cells are terminally differentiated. Differentiated VSMCs express SMCspecific contractile proteins including smooth muscle α -actin (SMA) (Rovner et al., 1986), smooth muscle myosin heavy chain (SM-MHC) (Gabbiani et al., 1981; Miano et al., 1994; Rovner et al., 1986), smooth muscle 22 alpha (SM22 α) (Lees-Miller et al., 1987), and calponin (Takahashi et al., 1986). However, VSMCs undergo the process of dedifferentiation, which is characterized by decreased differentiation marker gene expression and increased proliferation, migration, and matrix synthesis, in various cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis and in-stent restenosis.

The best-studied example of a disease related to VSMC phenotypic switching is atherosclerosis, which causes nearly 50% of all deaths in developed countries. The majority of differentiated VSMCs stay in the medial region in the vessels; however, upon exposure to proatherogenic cytokines, they undergo phenotypic modulation into dedifferentiated cells. The dedifferentiated VSMCs in the medial region migrate into the intima, where they proliferate and produce

extracellular matrix contributing to formation of intimal atherosclerotic lesions (Ross, 1993, 1999).

Despite decades of research, the molecular mechanisms required for the maintenance of differentiated VSMC phenotype (and therefore prevention of dedifferentiation) remain poorly understood, but are crucial to rational design of pharmacological strategies to prevent the disease.

1.2 Reactive Oxygen Species and NADPH Oxidase Signaling

Reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, are linked to the development of many cardiovascular disease pathologies, including atherosclerosis and restenosis. ROS were originally thought to have a detrimental role in oxidation of proteins, lipids, and DNA; however, recent research has shown that ROS act as second messengers in numerous signal transduction pathways. ROS such as superoxide and hydrogen peroxide modify the intracellular redox state and regulate physiologic and pathophysiologic processes in vascular system (Griendling et al., 2000a). Superoxide can be produced by mitochondria and several enzymatic systems such as NADPH oxidases (Griendling et al., 2000b) and also rapidly converted to hydrogen peroxide by superoxide dismutase (SOD). Hydrogen peroxide is one of the most stable and robust oxidizing ROS implicated in the regulation of signaling pathways including VSMC growth, differentiation, migration, and inflammation (Lassegue and Clempus, 2003). Although hydrogen peroxide is not a free radical, it reacts with thiol-containing proteins resulting in redox-sensitive

signals (Winterbourn and Hampton, 2008). Hydrogen peroxide initially reacts with cysteine residues in proteins to form a disulfide bond (-SSR) or a protein sulfenic acid (-SOH). Then, sulfinic acid (-SO₂H) and sulfonic acid (-SO₃H) can be formed which are irreversible modifications (Barford, 2004; Forman et al., 2002).

NADPH oxidases are major sources of ROS in VSMCs (Rajagopalan et al., 1996; Zafari et al., 1998). The NADPH oxidase family consists of Nox1, Nox2, Nox3, Nox4, Nox5, Duox1 and Duox2 (Lassegue and Clempus, 2003). Most cell types express multiple NADPH oxidases, which are differentially regulated by their expression level and subcellular localization. VSMCs from large arteries predominantly express Nox1 and Nox4, while resistance and coronary arteries express Nox2 (Gupte et al., 2009; Touyz et al., 2002), and only human VSMCs express Nox5 (Banfi et al., 2001). Nox 4 is highly expressed in focal adhesions (Hilenski et al., 2004), the nucleus (Kuroda et al., 2005), the endoplasmic reticulum (Ambasta et al., 2004), and mitochondria within the cell (Block et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2012), whereas Nox1 is found in caveolae on the plasma membrane (Hilenski et al., 2004) and Nox2 exists in phagosomes (Lambeth, 2004; Vignais, 2002) and on the leading edge of lamellipodia (Ushio-Fukai, 2006), indicative of their diverse roles within the cell.

Nox1, Nox2, and Nox3 all form an integral membrane complex with p22phox, a transmembrane protein that stabilizes the catalytic subunit (Nox) and serves as a docking site for cytosolic subunits (Ambasta et al., 2004; Lassegue and Griendling, 2010). These isoforms complex with cytosolic regulatory

subunits such as p47phox, NoxA1, NoxO1, p67phox, and Rac to produce ROS, primarily superoxide, whereas Nox4 does not require cytosolic subunits to produce ROS, but rather binds with polymerase delta interacting protein-2 (Podip2) (Lyle et al., 2009). Like Nox1, Nox2, and Nox3, Nox4 also interacts with p22phox (Ambasta et al., 2006; Hanna et al., 2004; Ushio-Fukai et al., 1996). The N-terminus of p22phox is essential for Nox4/p22phox localization (von Lohneysen et al., 2008); however, a p22phox mutant harboring alterations in the proline-rich region does not affect Nox4 activity but decreases Nox1 activity (Kawahara et al., 2005) suggesting that Nox4 is constitutively active (Ellmark et al., 2005), at least from the perspective of not requiring traditional cytosolic activators. It has been suggested that the major mechanism of Nox4 regulation is transcriptional (Bedard and Krause, 2007).

Nox4 was originally found in the kidney (Geiszt et al., 2000), but is expressed in many cell types including mesangial cells (Gorin et al., 2003), hepatocytes (Carmona-Cuenca et al., 2006), smooth muscle cells (Ellmark et al., 2005; Hilenski et al., 2004; Pedruzzi et al., 2004), endothelial cells (Ago et al., 2005; Van Buul et al., 2005), fibroblasts (Cucoranu et al., 2005; Dhaunsi et al., 2004), keratinocytes (Chamulitrat et al., 2004), and neurons (Vallet et al., 2005). Nox4 is required for VSMC differentiation marker gene expression. Our previous research has shown that knockdown of Nox4 reduced TGF- β -induced SMA and calponin mRNA and protein expression in VSMCs (Clempus et al., 2007; Martin-Garrido et al., 2011). Because Nox4 has been found in the nucleus (Hilenski et al., 2004), these studies suggested that the transcription factors associated with

differentiation marker gene expression could be regulated by Nox4-mediated ROS production. Although a role of ROS in VSMC differentiation has been proposed, the specific mechanisms require further investigation.

1.3 TGF-*β*-mediated Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation Signaling

Transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β) increases contractile gene expression (such as SM-MHC, SM22 α , calponin, and SMA) at both the transcriptional and translational levels. Among the smooth muscle genes, SMA is the most abundant in SMC and the best characterized (Owens and Thompson, 1986), and has been used by others as a prototypical SMC-specific gene.

Signaling pathways regulating TGF- β -induced gene expression can largely be divided into Smad-dependent and Smad-independent pathways. Many studies have shown that TGF- β increases Smad3 phosphorylation, which results in upregulation of contractile gene expression including SMA (Cucoranu et al., 2005; Hu et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2002). Recently, non-Smad pathways have been implicated as well, including various mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways, Rho-like GTPase signaling pathways, and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathways. The best-studied non-Smad pathway is the p38MAPK pathway. In rat pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells, p38MAPK mediates TGF- β -induced SMA expression (Deaton et al., 2005) and in the TGF- β -induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition, inhibition of p38MAPK decreased SMA expression (Rhyu et al., 2005; Yu et al., 2002).

TGF-β has been shown to increase Nox4 activity in stem cells, fibroblasts, and pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Our previous research showed that TGF-β induces production of ROS through Nox4, and that Nox4 is necessary for TGF-β-induced SMA expression and stress fiber formation in VSMCs (Clempus et al., 2007; Martin-Garrido et al., 2011). Nox4 exerts its effects in part through p38MAPK, which is known to be redox-sensitive (Ushio-Fukai et al., 1998) and to be downstream of Nox4 (Li et al., 2006; Martin-Garrido et al., 2011). Nox4/p38MAPK increases activity of the SMC-specific transcription factor SRF (serum response factor) by increasing its phosphorylation (Martin-Garrido et al., 2011). In addition, Poldip2, which binds to Nox4, activates RhoA in VSMCs (Lyle et al., 2009), an additional signaling pathway that has been linked to SMA expression (Lyle et al., 2009). However, the precise pathways by which Nox4 regulates SMA gene expression in response to TGF-β remain incompletely understood.

1.4 MRTF-A and SRF

As noted, VSMC contractile gene transcription is largely regulated by SRF, which binds to highly conserved CArG cis-elements (CC(A/T)6GG) that are present in the promoter of SMC-specific genes. SRF is a dual function transcription factor, which depends on its co-activators for specificity. For example, PDGF increases proliferative and migratory gene expression via inducing ternary complex factor binding to SRF, whereas TGF- β increases differentiation marker gene expression by inducing myocardin or myocardin-

related transcription factors (MRTFs) - A and - B binding to SRF. Myocardin is exclusively expressed in cardiomyocytes and smooth muscle cells, whereas MRTFs are more broadly expressed than myocardin (Wang et al., 2002). Myocardin is constitutively expressed in the nucleus and regulates transcriptional activity via SRF. Deletion of myocardin is embryonic lethal at day 10.5 due to a defect in heart development causing hemorrhage.

MRTF-A, also termed megakaryoblastic leukemia 1 (MKL1), megakaryocytic acute leukemia (MAL), and basic, SAP and coiled-coil (BSAC), was originally identified as the chromosome 22-encoded protein altered by the t(1;22) translocation of acute megakaryoblastic leukemias in infants and children (Ma et al., 2001; Mercher et al., 2001). The functional role of each domain of MKL1 has been explored. MKL1 has two RPEL domains at N-terminus that are important for monomeric G-actin binding. Basic regions of MKL1 are essential for nuclear localization and interaction with SRF. Basic regions are sufficient for SRF interaction, but glutamine rich region (Q-domain) accelerate the interaction with SRF (Zaromytidou et al., 2006). The SAP domain in myocardin is required for activation of a subset of SRF (Wang et al., 2001), but mutation of the SAP domain in MRTF-A does not affect SRF activity (Miralles et al., 2003). The leucine zipper domain (coiled-coil region) mediates dimerization of MRTF-A. MRTF-A preferentially binds SRF as a dimer (Miralles et al., 2003). The Cterminal region of MKL1 contains a transcriptional activation domain that is critical for gene expression (Cen et al., 2003). MRTF-B possesses similar domains and interacts with SRF in a similar manner to MRTF-A (Wang et al.,

2001); however, MRTF-B is less potent in inducing differentiation marker gene transcription than MRTF-A (Wang et al., 2002). Therefore, we focused on examining the functional role of MRTF-A in VSMC differentiation rather than the role of MRTF-B.

In fibroblasts, MRTF-A resides in the cytosol but is translocated into the nucleus to initiate SMC-specific differentiation gene transcription upon serum stimulation (Miralles et al., 2003). Binding of monomeric G-actin is an effective regulator for MRTF-A translocation from cytosol into the nucleus in fibroblasts. Activation of RhoA induces actin polymerization, which results in release of monomeric G-actin from MRTF-A. The dissociated MRTF-A translocates into the nucleus via importins located on the nucleus membranes (Pawlowski et al., 2010). However, in some SMCs, the majority of MRTF-A is found in the nucleus (Du et al., 2004; Hinson et al., 2007), suggesting that other signaling mechanisms are needed for the activation of MRTF-A.

Upon serum stimulation, MRTF-A is phosphorylated in NIH3T3 cells. C3 transferase, a Rho-kinase inhibitor, and U0126, an ERK inhibitor, decreased the serum-induced molecular weight shift of MRTF-A (indicative of phosphorylation), while a PKC inhibitor did not affect it (Miralles et al., 2003). The authors also showed that phosphorylation is not a leading factor for nuclear accumulation by serum, but suggest instead that phosphorylation may be important for its activation. In Hela cells, MRTF-A is phosphorylated at Serine454 by ERK in response to serum and mutation of the phosphorylation site constitutively localized MRTF-A in the nucleus, indicating that MRTF-A phosphorylation may

be important in nuclear export (Muehlich et al., 2008). However, how phosphorylation contributes to MRTF-A activity in SRF-responsive gene expression remains unclear, especially in VSMCs.

1.5 Palladin

Palladin is an actin-associated protein widely expressed in actin-based subcellular structures (Otey et al., 2005) including stress fibers, focal adhesions, cell-cell junctions, and embryonic Z-lines (Mykkanen et al., 2001; Parast and Otey, 2000). Seven isoforms of palladin have been found in different types of cells. The 90-kDa isoform of palladin is highly expressed in SMCs (Wang and Moser, 2008) and its overexpression induces stress fibers (Rachlin and Otey, 2006) whereas its knockdown triggers disordered stress fibers in SMCs (Liu et al., 2007). The 140-kDa isoform is widely expressed with the exception of liver, muscle, and skin (Parast and Otey, 2000; Rachlin and Otey, 2006; Wang and Moser, 2008), and it is neo-expressed by TGF- β in myofibroblasts (Ronty et al., 2006).

In vivo, loss of palladin causes embryonic lethality at day 15.5 due to an apparent cell migration defect resulting in defective neural tube and ventral closure (Luo et al., 2005). A few studies have shown that palladin has an important role in SMC differentiation. Palladin mRNA is induced at day 20 in an in vitro embryoid body differentiation system (Jin et al., 2009b) and knock out of palladin appears to impair differentiation into SMC by regulating smooth muscle marker gene expression (Jin et al., 2010). It is worthwhile to note that palladin is

important in the organization of the SMC cytoskeleton and in regulating contraction (Jin et al., 2010; Jin et al., 2007).

Retinoic acid markedly induces palladin expression as well as SMA and SM22 α expression in A404 cells and overexpression of palladin without retinoic acid significantly induces SMA and SM22 α gene expression in undifferentiated A404 cells (Jin et al., 2010). To determine how palladin regulates the expression of SMC contractile proteins, Jin et al. (Jin et al., 2009b) compared palladin null cells to WT cells measuring GTP•RhoA activity, Rho kinase expression, and SRF expression, but no significant difference was observed. However, coimmunoprecipitation assays (co-IP) in HEK 293 cells and in vitro GST pull down assays provided evidence that palladin binds to MRTFs but not myocardin. Immunocytochemistry assays clearly show that the C-terminal fragment, but not the N-terminal fragment, of palladin co-localizes with MRTF-A in the nucleus (Jin et al., 2010). This suggests that the C-terminus of palladin may have a distinctive role, whereas the N-terminus supports stress fibers and binding to many actin related proteins including α -actinin (Ronty et al., 2004), profilin (Boukhelifa et al., 2006), Spin90 (Ronty et al., 2007), ArgBP2 (Ronty et al., 2005), Eps8 and Src (Goicoechea et al., 2006; Ronty et al., 2007). The fact that palladin interacts with many of these actin related proteins suggests that palladin serves as a cytoskeleton scaffold and signaling mediator. Evidence that the Cterminus directs palladin to the nucleus suggests that palladin may possess another role in regulation of transcriptional activity by modulating transcription

factors or other molecules such as co-factors or translational modification enzymes.

1.6 Overall Hypothesis

Nox4 is a necessary enzyme for maintenance of the differentiated VSMC phenotype, yet its function in the biological system is not fully understood. Based on the above-mentioned studies implicating Nox4 and SRF in VSMC differentiation marker gene expression, demonstrating a requirement for an interaction between MRTF-A and SRF for induction of VSMC differentiation marker gene transcription, and supporting a role of palladin in VSMC differentiation and its potential interaction with MRTF-A, this thesis explores the link between Nox4, MRTF-A and palladin in the regulation of differentiation marker gene expression in VSMCs. In particular, how MRTF-A activation is managed in VSMCs has not been explored yet; therefore, we investigated the specific role of palladin in the regulation of MRTF-A activity in response to TGF- β -induced Nox4 activation.

In the work described here, we tested the hypothesis that Rho kinase (ROCK)-mediated phosphorylation of MRTF-A is a key event in regulation of SRF responsive genes in VSMCs and that this phosphorylation is dependent upon Nox4-mediated palladin expression and interaction with phosphatase PP2A. To address this hypothesis, we developed two specific aims.

The first aim of this research is to determine if TGF- β -mediated induction of MRTF-A phosphorylation and palladin expression is ROS sensitive. The second aim is to determine how palladin regulates phosphorylation of MRTF-A in the control of differentiation marker gene expression. Throughout, we have used SMA as a prototypical marker gene.

Figure 1.1 represents a schematic diagram of the detailed working model used to test our hypothesis. We propose that TGF- β -induced Nox4 activation produces H₂O₂ and that this regulates phosphorylation of MRTF-A and expression of palladin. The phosphorylation of MRTF-A is mediated by Rho kinase (ROCK) and its dephosphorylation is mediated by protein phosphatase 2A. Phosphorylation of MRTF-A is maintained by sequestration of protein phosphatase 2A by formation of a complex with palladin.



Figure 1.1 TGF- β -induced Redox-Sensitive Regulation of MRTF-A

Phosphorylation via Sequestration of PP2A by Palladin in VSMC

Differentiation

TGF- β -mediated H₂O₂ production from Nox4 increases phosphorylation of MRTF-A and expression of palladin. MRTF-A phosphorylation is mediated by ROCK and dephosphorylation of MRTF-A is prevented by sequestration of PP2A via palladin.

CHAPTER 2

Role of Palladin, Nox4 and MRTF-A in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation Gene Expression

2.1 Introduction

VSMCs are not terminally differentiated and have plasticity; that is, they are able to undergo the process of dedifferentiation. Dedifferentiated VSMCs contribute to neointima formation by migrating into intima from the media in the vessel and proliferating, causing vessel occlusion. To prevent neointima formation, maintenance of the differentiated status of VSMCs is important. TGF- β is one of the most potent stimuli that induces contractile gene expression and supports maintenance of the differentiated phenotype (Hautmann et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2003). Our previous publication shows that TGF- β -induced ROS production via Nox4 activation regulates VSMC differentiation (Clempus et al., 2007; Martin-Garrido et al., 2011).

SRF is a transcription factor that is under the control of TGF- β -induced Nox4 signaling (Martin-Garrido et al., 2011). SRF regulates two types of functionally different genes depending on which co-factors bind to it. MRTF-A, one of the most powerful transcription factors, interacts with SRF and is required for differentiation marker gene expression. In fibroblasts, nuclear translocation of cytosolic MRTF-A is prohibited by monomeric G-actin binding (Miralles et al., 2003). RhoA activation by extracellular stimulation such as serum leads to the depletion of cytosolic monomeric G-actin as it is recruited to actin polymers. Low concentrations of G-actin in the cytosol result in fewer interactions with MRTF-A, and the free MRTF-A translocates to the nucleus where it binds to SRF and increases expression of differentiation genes such as smooth muscle α -actin (SMA). In VSMCs, however, MRTF-A exists in the nucleus without any

extracellular stimulation (Du et al., 2004; Hinson et al., 2007); therefore, the concepts discovered in fibroblasts cannot be applied to VSMCs. A potential mode of regulation of MRTF-A activity is phosphorylation.

One protein that has been proposed to regulate MRTF-A activity in VSMCs is palladin, an actin associated protein known to bind to MRTF-A (Jin et al., 2010). However, the signaling pathways by which palladin itself is regulated and the precise mechanisms by which palladin might alter MRTF-A activity are unknown. Based on our previous work implicating Nox4 and ROS in TGF- β -induced activation of SRF-mediated SMA expression (Martin-Garrido et al., 2011), we tested the hypothesis that Nox4 is responsible for the expression and/or the activity of MRTF-A and palladin in regulation of expression of VSMC differentiation marker genes, using SMA as a prototypical gene. We further explored the function of palladin in regulating MRTF-A phosphorylation.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Cell Culture

Human aortic smooth muscle cells (here referred to as VSMCs) were obtained from Invitrogen (Mountain View, CA). Cells were cultured as recommended by the manufacturer and used between passages 5 and 9.

2.2.2 Materials

TGF- β was obtained from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). MRTF-A (C-19) and p300 antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA); palladin, SMA, and β -tubulin antibodies (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA); ERK and

phospho-ERK antibodies (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA); and PP2A antibodies (Millipore, Billerica, MA) were used for Western blot. siNox4, siMRTF-A and All-Star negative control siRNA (siNeg) (Qiagen, Valencia, CA), Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Invitrogen, Mountain View, CA), and OPTI-MEM (Gibco) were used for siRNA transfection. ROCK inhibitor (Y-27632), and ERK inhibitor (U0126) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) were used for kinase inhibition.

2.2.3 RNA Isolation and Quantitative RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted from cells using RNeasy plus kit (Qiagen), per the manufacturer's recommendations. Superscript II (Invitrogen) and random primers were used for reverse transcription. Message expression of human Nox4 (primer sequences: CTGGAGGAGCTGGCTCGCCAACGAAG and GTGATCATGAGGAATAGCACCACCACCATGCAG) and human hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase 1 (hHPRT1) (primer sequences:

TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA and GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT) were measured by amplification of human VSMC cDNA using the LightCycler (Roche) real-time thermocycler and SYBR green dye. Specific Nox4 primers were used to measure mRNA and normalized to hHPRT1.

2.2.4 siRNA transfection

For transfection with siRNA, human VSMCs were transfected with 25 nM small interfering RNA against Nox4 (siNox4#1; 5'-

AAACTGAGGTACAGCTGGATG-3', siNox4#2; 5'-

CAGCATCTGTTCTTAACCTCA-3'), MRTF-A (siMRTF-A; 5'-

ATGGAGCTGGTGGAGAAGAAC-3') or with the All-Star negative control siRNA

(siNeg) using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX in OPTI-MEM. Cells were then cultured in serum-free medium for 24 hr before treatment. For siRNA against palladin (siPall; 5'-ATCAGTTGTACTGGACGGCTA-3'), 1 x 10⁶ cells were nucleotransfected with 200 pmol of siPall or siNeg using the U-025 program of Amaxa. After attaching, the cells were cultured in serum-free medium for 24 hr before treatment.

2.2.5 Western blot and Immunoprecipitation

VSMCs were lysed in 1% Triton X-100 buffer (25 mM Hepes, 25 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM EDTA, 10 mM Na-pyrophosphate, 10 mM NaF, 0.1 mM Na₃VO₄, 1% Triton X-100, and protease inhibitors) for all experiments. Whole cell lysates were utilized for Western blot and immunoprecipitation experiments, as described previously (Clempus et al., 2007; Hanna et al., 2004). Protein concentration was measured using the Bradford Assay. Proteins were separated using SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes, blocked, and incubated with appropriate primary antibodies. Proteins were detected by ECL (Amersham). Band intensity was quantified by densitometry using Image J 1.46 software.

2.2.6 Nuclear and Cytosolic Fractionation

VSMCs were lysed in Buffer A (10 mM Hepes (pH 7.8), 10 mM KCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.2 mM NaF, 0.2 mM Na₃VO₄, 0.4 mM PMSF, and 10 μ g/ml leupeptin) with 0.625% Nonidet-P40. Cells were vortexed vigorously for 15 sec, followed by centrifugation at 21,000 x g at 4°C for 1 min to isolate the cytosolic fraction. The pellet was washed with buffer A three times. Then, to

isolate nuclear fraction, the pellets were incubated in buffer B (10 mM Hepes (pH 7.8), 50 mM KCl, 300 mM NaCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.2 mM NaF, 0.2 mM Na₃VO₄, 0.4 mM PMSF, 10 μ g/ml leupeptin, and 10% sterile glycerol) for 30 min on ice and centrifuged at 20,000 x g 4°C for 20 min.

2.2.7 Alkaline Phosphatase treatment

Cells were lysed in Hepes-Triton lysis buffer (Boston Bioproducts, Ashland, MA) (25 mM Hepes (pH 7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, and 1% Triton-X 100) containing halt protease inhibitor EDTA-free 100x and halt phosphatase inhibitor 100x (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Lysates were either not treated or treated with 20 units of alkaline phosphatase (Fermentas) at 37°C for 30 min and subjected to western blot analysis.

2.2.8 Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from at least three independent experiments unless otherwise indicated. Significance of statistical comparisons was assessed using analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparison post-hoc test. A value of p<0.05 was considered significant.

2.3 Experimental Results

2.3.1 TGF- β induces Palladin and SMA Expression

To determine whether TGF- β alters palladin expression in VSMCs, we treated TGF- β for 24 hr and performed western blot analysis. As shown in Figure 2.1, TGF- β increased expression of the 90-kDa isoform and caused neo-expression of the 140-kDa isoform of palladin. As previously reported (Martin-

Garrido et al., 2011), TGF- β also increased SMA expression (Figure 2.1). This result supports the idea that increased palladin may be related to SMA expression.

2.3.2 TGF-β-induced SMA Expression Requires Palladin.

To elucidate if TGF- β -induced SMA expression requires palladin, siRNA against palladin was transfected into human VSMCs. Knockdown of both forms of palladin was confirmed using palladin antibody, and led to decreased SMA expression (Figure 2.2). Thus, palladin is required for TGF- β -induced SMA expression.

2.3.3 Induction of Palladin by TGF- β is Redox-Sensitive.

Our previous observation that TGF- β induces ROS production via Nox4, leading to regulation of SRF activity (Martin-Garrido et al., 2011) led us to test if palladin induction is regulated by ROS. We used the antioxidant Nacetylcysteine (NAC) to block ROS and measured palladin expression. We have previously shown that 20 mM NAC completely scavenges NAPDH oxidasederived ROS in these cells (Lyle et al., 2009; Martin-Garrido et al., 2011). NAC treatment significantly reduced TGF- β -induced palladin and SMA expression (Figure 2.3). These data suggest that the induction of palladin by TGF- β requires ROS.

2.3.4 siNOX4 Blocks Palladin and SMA Expression.

To determine if the ROS production that controls palladin expression is derived from Nox4, we used two different siRNA sequences against Nox4. Transfection of siNox4 diminished its mRNA level (Figure 2.4) and decreased



Figure 2.1 TGF- β Induces Palladin and SMA Expression.

Human VSMCs were incubated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of palladin and SMA were analyzed using specific antibodies. β -actin was used as a loading control. Bars are means ± SEM of 3 independent experiments. *p<0.05 vs con and ***p<0.001 vs con. Con=control cells untreated with TGF- β .





Human VSMCs were transfected with control siRNA (siNeg) or siRNA against palladin (siPall). After 48 hr, the cells were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of palladin and SMA were analyzed using specific antibodies. β -tubulin was used as a loading control. Bars are means ± SEM of 3 independent experiments. *p<0.05 vs con and ***p<0.001 vs con.





Human VSMCs were preincubated with 20 mM NAC for 1 hr and then stimulated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of palladin and SMA were analyzed using specific antibodies. β -actin was used as a loading control. Bars are means ± SEM of 3 independent experiments. *p<0.05 vs con and ***p<0.001 vs con.



Figure 2.4 siNOX4 Decreases mRNA Levels of NOX4.

Human VSMCs were transfected with control siRNA (siNeg) or siRNA against NOX4 (siNOX4). Two different sequences for siNOX4 were used. After 48 hr, the cells were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. NOX4 mRNA was analyzed by real-time RT-PCR. Bars are means ± SEM of duplicate measurements of one experiment.



Figure 2.5 siNOX4 Inhibits Palladin and SMA Expression.

Human VSMCs were transfected with control siRNA (siNeg) or siRNA against NOX4 (siNOX4). Two different sequences for siNOX4 were used. After 48 hr, the cells were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of palladin, and SMA were analyzed using specific antibodies. β -tubulin was used as a loading control. *p<0.05 vs siNeg, #p<0.05 vs siNeg + TGF- β , \$p<0.05 vs siNeg, &p<0.05 vs siNeg + TGF- β .

TGF- β -induced palladin and SMA expression (Figure 2.5). These data show that Nox4 controls palladin and SMA expression.

2.3.5 TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Abolished by siPalladin.

Jin *et al.* (Jin et al., 2010) have shown that palladin binds to MRTF-A, but did not demonstrate the function of that binding. Based on this finding, we tested if knockdown of palladin affects the expression level of MRTF-A. Surprisingly, the data show no effect of palladin depletion on MRTF-A expression, but knockdown of palladin prevented the TGF- β -stimulated molecular weight shift in MRTF-A (Figure 2.6).

MRTF-A is known to be phosphorylated on multiple sites (Miralles et al., 2003), suggesting that this shift could be due to phosphorylation. To test this possibility, we incubated alkaline phosphatase with the TGF- β treated/untreated lysate. The result shows that alkaline phosphatase treatment successfully abolished molecular weight shift of MRTF-A suggesting that the upward molecular weight shift is due to phosphorylation of MRTF-A (Figure 2.7).

To confirm that palladin acts upstream of MRTF-A and not downstream, siMRTF-A was transfected into VSMCs. siMRTF-A transfection did not change palladin expression (Figure 2.8), even though it successfully knocked down MRTF-A. TGF- β -induced SMA expression was also decreased by siMRTF-A, which confirms that MRTF-A has a key role in regulating SMA expression. These results imply that palladin acts upstream of TGF- β -induced MRTF-A phosphorylation.



Figure 2.6 TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Molecular Weight Shift is Abolished by siPalladin.

Human VSMCs were transfected with control siRNA (siNeg) or siRNA against palladin (siPall). After 48 hr, the cells were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of MRTF-A were analyzed using specific antibody. β -tubulin was used as a loading control. This figure is representative of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 2.7 Alkaline Phosphatase Diminishes Molecular Weight Shift in MRTF-A.

Human VSMCs were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Lysates were incubated with or without alkaline phosphatase at 37°C for 30 min. Western blot was performed using MRTF-A antibody. This figure is representative of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 2.8 Knockdown of MRTF-A Does Not Alter TGF- β -induced Palladin Expression.

Human VSMCs were transfected with control siRNA (siNeg) or siRNA against MRTF-A (siMRTF-A). After 48 hr, the cells were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of palladin, MRTF-A and SMA were analyzed using specific antibodies. β -tubulin was used as a loading control. Blot is representative of 2 independent experiments.

2.3.6 TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Redox-Sensitive.

Because TGF- β -induced palladin expression is redox-sensitive, we predicted that MRTF-A phosphorylation also requires ROS. VSMCs were treated with NAC prior to TGF- β addition and then MRTF-A phosphorylation was measured using the molecular weight shift on western blot. MRTF-A phosphorylation by TGF- β was abolished by NAC treatment (Figure 2.9). These data show that MRTF-A phosphorylation is regulated by ROS.

2.3.7 siNOX4 Blocks MRTF-A Phosphorylation and its Expression.

To see if the ROS that regulate MRTF-A phosphorylation are released from Nox4, we transfected our two different sequences of siNox4 and then observed MRTF-A phosphorylation. The result indicates that MRTF-A phosphorylation is diminished by knockdown of Nox4 and is expression level also decreased (Figure 2.10). These data suggest that MRTF-A phosphorylation is under the control of ROS produced from Nox4.

2.3.8 TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Mediated by ROCK.

Next, we explored which kinase mediates the phosphorylation of MRTF-A. Since palladin itself is not a kinase, we investigated other options. In NIH3T3 cells, C3 transferase (Rho GTPase family inhibitor) and U0126 (MEK1/2 inhibitor) treatment abolished the upward shift in MRTF-A molecular weight in response to fetal calf serum (Miralles et al., 2003), implicating Rho Kinase (ROCK) and the ERK pathway in MRTF-A phosphorylation. We used Y-27632, more specific ROCK inhibitor than C3 transferase, and U0126 to determine if either of these pathways mediate MRTF-A phosphorylation in response to TGF- β in VSMCs. Y- 27632 treatment reduced MRTF-A phosphorylation, while U0126 alone had no effect (Figure 2.11). This result shows that in VSMCs, MRTF-A phosphorylation is mediated by ROCK but not by ERK, and raises the possibility that palladin may be involved in regulating ROCK activity. The effect of palladin on ROCK activity remains to be measured.

2.3.9 Palladin Does Not Affect Nuclear Localization of MRTF-A

There are several other potential modes of regulation of MRTF-A phosphorylation by palladin including regulation of nuclear localization or phosphatase activity. To test the possibility that palladin affects nuclear localization of MRTF-A, we fractionated the cells into cytosolic and nuclear fractions after TGF- β treatment. The result shows that the majority of palladin and MRTF-A resides in the nucleus and siPall does not affect the amount of MRTF-A in the nucleus, suggesting it does not have a role in translocation of MRTF-A. As expected, siPall did reduce MRTF-A phosphorylation in the nucleus (Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.9 TGF- β -induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Redox-Sensitive.

Human VSMCs were preincubated with 20 mM NAC for 1 hr and then stimulated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of MRTF-A were analyzed using specific antibodies. β -tubulin was used as a loading control. This figure is representative of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 2.10 siNOX4 Blocks MRTF-A Phosphorylation and its Expression.

Human VSMCs were transfected with control siRNA (siNeg) or siRNA against NOX4 (siNOX4). Two different sequences for siNOX4 were used. After 48 hr, the cells were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of MRTF-A were analyzed using specific antibodies. β -tubulin was used as a loading control. This figure is representative of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 2.11 TGF-β**-induced MRTF-A Phosphorylation is Mediated by ROCK.** Human VSMCs were preincubated with 10 μM ROCK inhibitor (Y-27632) for 1 hr or 30 μM ERK inhibitor (U0126) for 30 min. Then the cells were treated with TGF-β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Total protein was extracted and levels of palladin, MRTF-A, phospho-ERK, and SMA were analyzed using specific antibodies. βtubulin was used as a loading control. Y; Y-27632, U; U0126, D; DMSO vehicle control. This figure is representative of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 2.12 Palladin Does Not Affect Nuclear Localization of MRTF-A.

Human VSMCs were transfected with control siRNA (siNeg) or siRNA against palladin (siPall). After 48 hr, the cells were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. The cells were fractionated into cytosol and nucleus. Total protein was extracted and levels of palladin, and MRTF-A using specific antibodies. p300 and α -tubulin were used as loading controls. This figure is representative of 3 independent experiments.

2.3.10 Palladin may sequester PP2A from MRTF-A by Binding to PP2A.

Another possibility to explain MRTF-A phosphorylation by palladin is via inhibition of phosphatase(s). We focused on protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A), a serine/threonine phosphatase with broad substrate specificity that exists in both cytosol and nucleus (McCright et al., 1996). We first tested the hypothesis that palladin might form a complex with the phosphatase, preventing its proximity to MRTF-A. We immunoprecipitated palladin and blotted for PP2A. The result shows that palladin binds to PP2A, which suggests that palladin may sequester PP2A from MRTF-A resulting in prevention of blocking MRTF-A phosphorylation (Figure 2.13). The slightly increased binding of PP2A in TGF- β treated cells supports the idea that TGF- β -induced palladin expression increases sequestration of PP2A from MRTF-A. Further experiments are necessary to test this hypothesis.



Figure 2.13 Palladin Binds to PP2A

Human VSMCs were treated with TGF- β (2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. The cells were immunoprecipitated (IP) with palladin antibody and immunoblotted (IB) with palladin (*upper*), and PP2A (*lower*) antibodies.

2.4 Discussion

In this study, we demonstrated that 1) TGF-β-induced ROS production from Nox4 regulates palladin expression and MRTF-A phosphorylation; 2) knockdown of palladin abolishes MRTF-A phosphorylation and SMA expression; 3) the kinase regulating MRTF-A phosphorylation is ROCK; 4) palladin has no effect on nuclear localization of MRTF-A, but may sequester PP2A from MRTF-A to control phosphorylation of MRTF-A.

Palladin has multiple isoforms created by alternative transcription initiation and splicing that are differentially expressed in cells and tissues (Otey et al., 2009). The 90-kDa form of palladin was previously reported to be upregulated and the 140-kDa isoform of palladin to be neo-expressed by TGF- β during fibroblast-to-myofibroblast conversion (Ronty et al., 2006). Palladin has several functions in actin-based subcellular structures (Otey et al., 2005), acting as a molecular scaffold and actin cross linker (Boukhelifa et al., 2001; Dixon et al., 2008; Goicoechea et al., 2006). In addition, recent findings suggested its involvement in transcriptional regulation, showing that palladin is essential for SMC marker gene expression (Jin et al., 2010; Jin et al., 2009b). How palladin participates in transcriptional regulation is not clear; however, palladin was found in the nucleus binding with MRTF-A (Jin et al., 2010), raising the possibility that palladin may have a role in regulation of MRTF-A activity for SMC marker gene expression.

Previously, hydrogen peroxide was used to see if ROS alter palladin expression in SMCs (Jin et al., 2009a). The authors found that extracellular

application of 100 μ M H₂O₂ decreased palladin expression after 24 hr of treatment. In contrast, we found that the intracellular production of likely smaller amounts of H₂O₂ is actually required for TGF- β -induced palladin expression. The discrepancy between these studies most likely relates to the lack of specificity of extracellularly applied H₂O₂, which easily diffuses through membranes, is not locally produced and is applied in amounts in great excess of those produced locally by NADPH oxidases.

Our results show that both palladin and MRTF-A are under the regulation of Nox4-dervied ROS, suggesting possible cross-talk in the signaling. Knockdown of palladin using siRNA abolishes MRTF-A phosphorylation but not expression, which indicates that palladin is an upstream protein regulating the phosphorylation of MRTF-A. The fact that knockdown of MRTF-A did not affect the expression levels of palladin confirms the idea that palladin is an upstream protein. Since palladin does not have kinase activity, we experimented to find downstream kinases that mediate MRTF-A phosphorylation. Our results show that ROCK regulated phosphorylation of MRTF-A but ERK did not have an effect. This was surprising because ERK has been implied as an effective kinase in phosphorylation of MRTF-A in NIH3T3 and Hela cells (Miralles et al., 2003; Muehlich et al., 2008). Possible explanations for this discrepancy include differences in cell type or in subcellular localization, since in VSMCs MRTF-A is in the nucleus in unstimulated cells, while in fibroblasts, it resides in the cytosol. The huge molecular weight change of MRTF-A in response to TGF- β suggests

that MRTF-A is phosphorylated at multiple sites, which leaves the possibility that additional kinases phosphorylate MRTF-A.

Based on previous data, the role of palladin in MRTF-A phosphorylation could be narrowed down to three likely possibilities. First, palladin may act to regulate the kinase activity. Therefore, the effect of palladin on ROCK activity should be tested in the future. Second, palladin may help to localize MRTF-A to the nucleus. However, knockdown of palladin only changed MRTF-A's phosphorylation status but not its translocation. These data and the treatment with kinase inhibitors (Figure 2.11) show that the inhibition of phosphorylation is not a key factor for localization of MRTF-A. Third, palladin may regulate phosphatase activity. We observed binding of palladin with PP2A and a slight increase of binding in the presence of TGF- β . One highly possible role of palladin in regulation of MRTF-A phosphorylation thus may be the sequestration of PP2A from MRTF-A. Okadaic acid, an inhibitor of PP1- and PP2A-like phosphatases, prevented the dephosphorylation of MRTF-A in neurons (Kalita et al., 2006), supporting the concept that PP2A may be a crucial enzyme for maintenance of MRTF-A phosphorylation. Future work will be necessary to dissect the precise relationship among palladin, PP2A and MRTF-A.

PP2A is an attractive candidate as the link between palladin and MRTF-A also because it has been shown to be regulated by ROS. PP2A activity was inhibited by H_2O_2 in Caco-2 cells (Rao and Clayton, 2002) and in VSMCs (Rocic et al., 2003), suggesting that Nox4-derived ROS might be an important regulator not only for palladin expression, but also for PP2A activity. Thus, it is likely that

TGF-β-induced ROS production from Nox4 has multiple roles: it may increase palladin expression, decrease PP2A activity, and increase sequestration of PP2A from MRTF-A. This is supported by the data in Figure 2.5, which shows that siNox4 was more effective against SMA than palladin, suggesting Nox4 has multiple roles and palladin is only one of them.

Phosphorylation is a rapid and often transient event commonly observed in a few minutes after extra- or intra- cellular stimulation. However, MRTF-A phosphorylation occurs within an hour after TGF-β treatment and lasts at least for 24 hr (data not shown). Therefore, the sequestration of PP2A by palladin may be a key step in maintaining the phosphorylation status. Nevertheless, exploring other possible phosphatases will be required for better understanding of Nox4/palladin/MRTF-A signal transduction in VSMC differentiation.

In conclusion, these data demonstrate that ROCK-mediated MRTF-A phosphorylation is crucial in regulation of SRF responsive genes in VSMCs, and that this event is regulated by Nox4-mediated palladin expression and its interaction with PP2A. These findings may contribute to the discovery of new targets for prevention and recovery from cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis and in-stent restenosis.

CHAPTER 3

Discussion

The data presented in Chapter 2 clearly demonstrate a novel important role for Nox4-mediated regulation of MRTF-A and palladin in VSMC differentiation marker gene expression. Specifically, we illustrate that TGF- β -induced ROS production from Nox4 is required for increased expression of palladin and phosphorylation of MRTF-A. We also describe that palladin is necessary for the increase of TGF- β -induced phosphorylation of MRTF-A. The kinase involved in MRTF-A phosphorylation by TGF- β is ROCK, as assessed by inhibition of ROCK activity during TGF- β treatment. Furthermore, interaction between palladin and PP2A raises the possibility that PP2A may mediate dephosphorylation of MRTF-A. Thus, the potential role of palladin in mediating differentiation gene expression is sequestration of PP2A from MRTF-A, which results in sustained MRTF-A phosphorylation.

Although the data presented here support the hypothesis shown in Figure 1.1, further experiments are needed. The potential interaction between palladin and PP2A in TGF- β treated and untreated cells should be confirmed. siRNA against PP2A should be used to confirm that PP2A dephosphorylates MRTF-A in VSMCs. Additionally, identifying regions of palladin that may be important for binding with PP2A could provide insight as to how palladin regulates PP2A and consequently MRTF-A phosphorylation. Moreover, PP2A might be directly regulated by Nox4 based on the previous findings (Rao and Clayton, 2002; Rocic et al., 2003). PP2A activity should be measured in siNox4 transfected cells to see if PP2A activity is controlled by Nox4. To demonstrate if Nox4 directly oxidizes PP2A, point mutations at predicted oxidation sites in PP2A should be

made, and the mutants should be transfected into the cells to determine if Nox4mediated oxidation on PP2A is a key event in the regulation of its activity. Finally, the relevance of these pathways to expression of other SMC-specific differentiation genes should be investigated.

The role of palladin may not be restricted to regulation of PP2A. There are other possible roles of palladin in regulation of MRTF-A phosphorylation. First, palladin may also interact with other phosphatases to prevent dephosphorylation of MRTF-A. Previous experiments using okadaic acid (Kalita et al., 2006) indicate that both PP1 and PP2A may have a role in prevention of MRTF-A phosphorylation. Therefore, the possible involvement of PP1 should be tested. siPP1 could be used to see if PP1 dephosphorylates MRTF-A and then an immunoprecipitation assay should be conducted to determine if palladin and PP1 interact. Identifying their binding sites by expressing fragments of the protein and using mutagenesis to confirm which regions of the proteins are important for interaction would be informative. Mutants could then be tested for their effect on dephosphorylation of MRTF-A. Second, palladin may modulate kinase activity. Since the ROCK inhibitor interferes with phosphorylation of MRTF-A, future studies should test TGF- β -induced ROCK activity using siPalladin to determine if siPalladin disrupts activation of ROCK. Third, palladin may bind to MRTF-A and prevent phosphatase access. The N-terminus of palladin is known to bind to the N-terminus of MRTF-A, and palladin does not compete with G-actin, which means it does not bind to the RPEL domain in MRTF-A (Jin et al., 2010). Mutation at the expected binding site on palladin

would determine if MRTF-A phosphorylation is prevented when palladin does not bind to MRTF-A.

Phosphorylation of MRTF-A is closely related to its activity. The ROCK inhibitor decreased TGF- β -induced phosphorylation of MRTF-A (Figure 2.11). However, due to the large molecular weight shift of MRTF-A, it is conceivable that multiple kinases are involved in phosphorylation of MRTF-A or that multiple sites on MRTF-A are phosphorylated. There are 8 highly possible ROCK phosphorylation sites predicted by GPS 2.1 program. Two occur 5' of the RPEL1 domain: one serine (16Ser) and one threonine (22Thr). In between the RPEL 2 domain and the basic domain four possible phosphorylation sites were found; 215Ser, 220Ser, 223Ser, and 318Ser. Within the transcriptional activation domain, there are two prospective phosphorylation sites, 743Ser and 744Ser. Point mutation on the 8 potential phosphorylation sites would be an ideal experiment to explore the functional role of MRTF-A phosphorylation. However, since C-terminal deletion mutants have been shown to lose MRTF-A activity possibly due to the loss of a transcriptional activation domain (Cen et al., 2003), the last two sites (743Ser and 744Ser) are possibly related to direct regulation of MRTF-A activity. Once these mutants are made, they should be transfected into VSMCs to see if they alter TGF- β -induced SMA expression. Based on the results, a custom antibody for phospho-MRTF-A at the most likely sites could be generated. Because palladin-regulated phosphorylation sites should also be sensitive to Nox4 inhibition and loss of palladin expression, the phospho-antibody should be used in TGF- β -stimulated cells transfected with siNox4 or siPalladin,

with the expectation that loss of either Nox4 or palladin would block MRTF-A phosphorylation on that particular site.

Future studies designed to identify other phosphorylation sites on MRTF-A induced TGF-β would add to our understanding of how phosphorylation of this important transcription factor globally regulates differentiation gene expression. To do this, mass spectrometry may be an efficient tool. Discovery of which kinases may be involved based on sequence of the phosphorylation sites found by mass spectrometry would generate testable hypotheses. Inhibitor treatment for the predicted kinases could then be performed to confirm that the kinases phosphorylate MRTF-A. Also, the identified phosphorylation sites could be mutated and checked for their ability to inhibit SMA or other differentiation gene expression to determine the function of each site.

The studies described in this thesis rely solely on cell culture models to investigate signaling pathways leading to differentiation gene expression. Future studies to determine the physiological and pathological relevance of the identified pathways should be performed using Nox4 knockout (KO) mice and palladin KO mice. One model that could be used is redifferentiation of SMCs after vascular injury. Fourteen to 21 days after wire or balloon injury of rat or mouse arteries, respectively, the neointima is fully developed and the resident SMCs begin to revert to the differentiated phenotype and re-express differentiation genes (Clempus et al., 2007; Martin-Garrido et al., 2011). Typically, at 7 days after wire or balloon injury, vSMC differentiation has not occurred; with the progression of the injury, at day 21, differentiated VSMCs should be observed. Therefore, at 7,

14 and 21 days after wire or balloon injury, the whole artery should be collected and lysed for western blot and sectioned for immunohistochemistry and the difference in expression levels of MRTF-A, palladin, and SMA in the KO and wildtype (WT) mice should be analyzed. Also, phosphorylation of MRTF-A should be evaluated to elucidate the physiological implications of the phosphorylation. Based on our cell culture data, we would expect that neointimal area would be greater in both knockout animals, since Nox4 and palladin would enhance VSMC redifferentiation and thus limit further neointimal formation. In WT mice, MRTF-A, palladin, and SMA expression should be increased at day 21 compared to day 7, but Nox4 KO mice may have a smaller induction than the WT. Palladin KO mice may have a similar phenotype except palladin expression should be not be detected. The whole arteries from each KO mice and WT mice could also be processed for a PP2A activity assay. PP2A activity would be expected to be decreased in a time dependent manner in WT mice. In Nox4 KO mice, PP2A activity may be increased at day 21 compared to WT mice. In palladin KO mice, the activity may not be changed if the regulation of its activity is solely from Nox4. However, if palladin regulates PP2A activity directly, palladin KO mice may have increased PP2A activity at day 21 compared to WT mice.

In summary, the data provided in this thesis link Nox4-mediated ROS production to MRTF-A phosphorylation and palladin expression in the control of differentiation marker gene expression in VSMCs. Maintenance of VSMC differentiation is clinically important in prevention of cardiovascular diseases such as restenosis after angioplasty and atherosclerosis. The present study provides

information on signaling pathways important in the maintenance of differentiation, or prevention of dedifferentiation, of VSMCs, namely phosphorylation of MRTF-A, its regulating kinases or phosphatases and their interacting partners.

References

Ago, T., Kitazono, T., Kuroda, J., Kumai, Y., Kamouchi, M., Ooboshi, H., Wakisaka, M., Kawahara, T., Rokutan, K., Ibayashi, S*., et al.* (2005). NAD(P)H oxidases in rat basilar arterial endothelial cells. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation *36*, 1040-1046.

Ambasta, R.K., Kumar, P., Griendling, K.K., Schmidt, H.H., Busse, R., and Brandes, R.P. (2004). Direct interaction of the novel Nox proteins with p22phox is required for the formation of a functionally active NADPH oxidase. The Journal of biological chemistry 279, 45935-45941.

Ambasta, R.K., Schreiber, J.G., Janiszewski, M., Busse, R., and Brandes, R.P. (2006). Noxa1 is a central component of the smooth muscle NADPH oxidase in mice. Free radical biology & medicine *41*, 193-201.

Banfi, B., Molnar, G., Maturana, A., Steger, K., Hegedus, B., Demaurex, N., and Krause, K.H. (2001). A Ca(2+)-activated NADPH oxidase in testis, spleen, and lymph nodes. The Journal of biological chemistry *276*, 37594-37601.

Barford, D. (2004). The role of cysteine residues as redox-sensitive regulatory switches. Current opinion in structural biology *14*, 679-686.

Bedard, K., and Krause, K.H. (2007). The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiological reviews 87, 245-313.

Block, K., Gorin, Y., and Abboud, H.E. (2009). Subcellular localization of Nox4 and regulation in diabetes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *106*, 14385-14390.

Boukhelifa, M., Moza, M., Johansson, T., Rachlin, A., Parast, M., Huttelmaier, S., Roy, P., Jockusch, B.M., Carpen, O., Karlsson, R., *et al.* (2006). The proline-rich protein palladin is a binding partner for profilin. The FEBS journal *273*, 26-33.

Boukhelifa, M., Parast, M.M., Valtschanoff, J.G., LaMantia, A.S., Meeker, R.B., and Otey, C.A. (2001). A role for the cytoskeleton-associated protein palladin in neurite outgrowth. Molecular biology of the cell *12*, 2721-2729.

Carmona-Cuenca, I., Herrera, B., Ventura, J.J., Roncero, C., Fernandez, M., and Fabregat, I. (2006). EGF blocks NADPH oxidase activation by TGF-beta in fetal rat hepatocytes, impairing oxidative stress, and cell death. Journal of cellular physiology *207*, 322-330.

Cen, B., Selvaraj, A., Burgess, R.C., Hitzler, J.K., Ma, Z., Morris, S.W., and Prywes, R. (2003). Megakaryoblastic leukemia 1, a potent transcriptional coactivator for serum response factor (SRF), is required for serum induction of SRF target genes. Molecular and cellular biology *23*, 6597-6608. Chamulitrat, W., Stremmel, W., Kawahara, T., Rokutan, K., Fujii, H., Wingler, K., Schmidt, H.H., and Schmidt, R. (2004). A constitutive NADPH oxidase-like system containing gp91phox homologs in human keratinocytes. The Journal of investigative dermatology *122*, 1000-1009.

Clempus, R.E., Sorescu, D., Dikalova, A.E., Pounkova, L., Jo, P., Sorescu, G.P., Schmidt, H.H., Lassegue, B., and Griendling, K.K. (2007). Nox4 is required for maintenance of the differentiated vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology *27*, 42-48.

Cucoranu, I., Clempus, R., Dikalova, A., Phelan, P.J., Ariyan, S., Dikalov, S., and Sorescu, D. (2005). NAD(P)H oxidase 4 mediates transforming growth factorbeta1-induced differentiation of cardiac fibroblasts into myofibroblasts. Circulation research *97*, 900-907.

Deaton, R.A., Su, C., Valencia, T.G., and Grant, S.R. (2005). Transforming growth factor-beta1-induced expression of smooth muscle marker genes involves activation of PKN and p38 MAPK. The Journal of biological chemistry *280*, 31172-31181.

Dhaunsi, G.S., Paintlia, M.K., Kaur, J., and Turner, R.B. (2004). NADPH oxidase in human lung fibroblasts. Journal of biomedical science *11*, 617-622.

Dixon, R.D., Arneman, D.K., Rachlin, A.S., Sundaresan, N.R., Costello, M.J., Campbell, S.L., and Otey, C.A. (2008). Palladin is an actin cross-linking protein that uses immunoglobulin-like domains to bind filamentous actin. The Journal of biological chemistry *283*, 6222-6231.

Du, K.L., Chen, M., Li, J., Lepore, J.J., Mericko, P., and Parmacek, M.S. (2004). Megakaryoblastic leukemia factor-1 transduces cytoskeletal signals and induces smooth muscle cell differentiation from undifferentiated embryonic stem cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 279, 17578-17586.

Ellmark, S.H., Dusting, G.J., Fui, M.N., Guzzo-Pernell, N., and Drummond, G.R. (2005). The contribution of Nox4 to NADPH oxidase activity in mouse vascular smooth muscle. Cardiovascular research *65*, 495-504.

Forman, H.J., Torres, M., and Fukuto, J. (2002). Redox signaling. Molecular and cellular biochemistry 234-235, 49-62.

Gabbiani, G., Schmid, E., Winter, S., Chaponnier, C., de Ckhastonay, C., Vandekerckhove, J., Weber, K., and Franke, W.W. (1981). Vascular smooth muscle cells differ from other smooth muscle cells: predominance of vimentin filaments and a specific alpha-type actin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *78*, 298-302. Geiszt, M., Kopp, J.B., Varnai, P., and Leto, T.L. (2000). Identification of renox, an NAD(P)H oxidase in kidney. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97, 8010-8014.

Goicoechea, S., Arneman, D., Disanza, A., Garcia-Mata, R., Scita, G., and Otey, C.A. (2006). Palladin binds to Eps8 and enhances the formation of dorsal ruffles and podosomes in vascular smooth muscle cells. Journal of cell science *119*, 3316-3324.

Gorin, Y., Ricono, J.M., Kim, N.H., Bhandari, B., Choudhury, G.G., and Abboud, H.E. (2003). Nox4 mediates angiotensin II-induced activation of Akt/protein kinase B in mesangial cells. American journal of physiology Renal physiology *285*, F219-229.

Griendling, K.K., Sorescu, D., Lassegue, B., and Ushio-Fukai, M. (2000a). Modulation of protein kinase activity and gene expression by reactive oxygen species and their role in vascular physiology and pathophysiology. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology *20*, 2175-2183.

Griendling, K.K., Sorescu, D., and Ushio-Fukai, M. (2000b). NAD(P)H oxidase: role in cardiovascular biology and disease. Circulation research *86*, 494-501.

Gupte, S.A., Kaminski, P.M., George, S., Kouznestova, L., Olson, S.C., Mathew, R., Hintze, T.H., and Wolin, M.S. (2009). Peroxide generation by p47phox-Src activation of Nox2 has a key role in protein kinase C-induced arterial smooth muscle contraction. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology 296, H1048-1057.

Hanna, I.R., Hilenski, L.L., Dikalova, A., Taniyama, Y., Dikalov, S., Lyle, A., Quinn, M.T., Lassegue, B., and Griendling, K.K. (2004). Functional association of nox1 with p22phox in vascular smooth muscle cells. Free radical biology & medicine *37*, 1542-1549.

Hautmann, M.B., Madsen, C.S., and Owens, G.K. (1997). A transforming growth factor beta (TGFbeta) control element drives TGFbeta-induced stimulation of smooth muscle alpha-actin gene expression in concert with two CArG elements. The Journal of biological chemistry 272, 10948-10956.

Hilenski, L.L., Clempus, R.E., Quinn, M.T., Lambeth, J.D., and Griendling, K.K. (2004). Distinct subcellular localizations of Nox1 and Nox4 in vascular smooth muscle cells. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology *24*, 677-683.

Hinson, J.S., Medlin, M.D., Lockman, K., Taylor, J.M., and Mack, C.P. (2007). Smooth muscle cell-specific transcription is regulated by nuclear localization of the myocardin-related transcription factors. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology 292, H1170-1180. Hu, B., Wu, Z., and Phan, S.H. (2003). Smad3 mediates transforming growth factor-beta-induced alpha-smooth muscle actin expression. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology *29*, 397-404.

Jin, L., Gan, Q., Zieba, B.J., Goicoechea, S.M., Owens, G.K., Otey, C.A., and Somlyo, A.V. (2010). The actin associated protein palladin is important for the early smooth muscle cell differentiation. PloS one *5*, e12823.

Jin, L., Hastings, N.E., Blackman, B.R., and Somlyo, A.V. (2009a). Mechanical properties of the extracellular matrix alter expression of smooth muscle protein LPP and its partner palladin; relationship to early atherosclerosis and vascular injury. Journal of muscle research and cell motility *30*, 41-55.

Jin, L., Kern, M.J., Otey, C.A., Wamhoff, B.R., and Somlyo, A.V. (2007). Angiotensin II, focal adhesion kinase, and PRX1 enhance smooth muscle expression of lipoma preferred partner and its newly identified binding partner palladin to promote cell migration. Circulation research *100*, 817-825.

Jin, L., Yoshida, T., Ho, R., Owens, G.K., and Somlyo, A.V. (2009b). The actinassociated protein Palladin is required for development of normal contractile properties of smooth muscle cells derived from embryoid bodies. The Journal of biological chemistry *284*, 2121-2130.

Kalita, K., Kharebava, G., Zheng, J.J., and Hetman, M. (2006). Role of megakaryoblastic acute leukemia-1 in ERK1/2-dependent stimulation of serum response factor-driven transcription by BDNF or increased synaptic activity. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience *26*, 10020-10032.

Kawahara, T., Ritsick, D., Cheng, G., and Lambeth, J.D. (2005). Point mutations in the proline-rich region of p22phox are dominant inhibitors of Nox1- and Nox2-dependent reactive oxygen generation. The Journal of biological chemistry *280*, 31859-31869.

Kim, J.H., Song, S.Y., Park, S.G., Song, S.U., Xia, Y., and Sung, J.H. (2012). Primary involvement of NADPH oxidase 4 in hypoxia-induced generation of reactive oxygen species in adipose-derived stem cells. Stem cells and development *21*, 2212-2221.

Kuroda, J., Nakagawa, K., Yamasaki, T., Nakamura, K., Takeya, R., Kuribayashi, F., Imajoh-Ohmi, S., Igarashi, K., Shibata, Y., Sueishi, K., *et al.* (2005). The superoxide-producing NAD(P)H oxidase Nox4 in the nucleus of human vascular endothelial cells. Genes to cells : devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms *10*, 1139-1151.

Lambeth, J.D. (2004). NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen. Nature reviews Immunology *4*, 181-189.

Lassegue, B., and Clempus, R.E. (2003). Vascular NAD(P)H oxidases: specific features, expression, and regulation. American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology *285*, R277-297.

Lassegue, B., and Griendling, K.K. (2010). NADPH oxidases: functions and pathologies in the vasculature. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology *30*, 653-661.

Lees-Miller, J.P., Heeley, D.H., Smillie, L.B., and Kay, C.M. (1987). Isolation and characterization of an abundant and novel 22-kDa protein (SM22) from chicken gizzard smooth muscle. The Journal of biological chemistry *262*, 2988-2993.

Li, J., Stouffs, M., Serrander, L., Banfi, B., Bettiol, E., Charnay, Y., Steger, K., Krause, K.H., and Jaconi, M.E. (2006). The NADPH oxidase NOX4 drives cardiac differentiation: Role in regulating cardiac transcription factors and MAP kinase activation. Molecular biology of the cell *17*, 3978-3988.

Liu, X.S., Luo, H.J., Yang, H., Wang, L., Kong, H., Jin, Y.E., Wang, F., Gu, M.M., Chen, Z., Lu, Z.Y., *et al.* (2007). Palladin regulates cell and extracellular matrix interaction through maintaining normal actin cytoskeleton architecture and stabilizing beta1-integrin. Journal of cellular biochemistry *100*, 1288-1300.

Liu, Y., Sinha, S., and Owens, G. (2003). A transforming growth factor-beta control element required for SM alpha-actin expression in vivo also partially mediates GKLF-dependent transcriptional repression. The Journal of biological chemistry *278*, 48004-48011.

Luo, H., Liu, X., Wang, F., Huang, Q., Shen, S., Wang, L., Xu, G., Sun, X., Kong, H., Gu, M., *et al.* (2005). Disruption of palladin results in neural tube closure defects in mice. Molecular and cellular neurosciences *29*, 507-515.

Lyle, A.N., Deshpande, N.N., Taniyama, Y., Seidel-Rogol, B., Pounkova, L., Du, P., Papaharalambus, C., Lassegue, B., and Griendling, K.K. (2009). Poldip2, a novel regulator of Nox4 and cytoskeletal integrity in vascular smooth muscle cells. Circulation research *105*, 249-259.

Ma, Z., Morris, S.W., Valentine, V., Li, M., Herbrick, J.A., Cui, X., Bouman, D., Li, Y., Mehta, P.K., Nizetic, D., *et al.* (2001). Fusion of two novel genes, RBM15 and MKL1, in the t(1;22)(p13;q13) of acute megakaryoblastic leukemia. Nature genetics *28*, 220-221.

Martin-Garrido, A., Brown, D.I., Lyle, A.N., Dikalova, A., Seidel-Rogol, B., Lassegue, B., San Martin, A., and Griendling, K.K. (2011). NADPH oxidase 4 mediates TGF-beta-induced smooth muscle alpha-actin via p38MAPK and serum response factor. Free radical biology & medicine *50*, 354-362.

McCright, B., Rivers, A.M., Audlin, S., and Virshup, D.M. (1996). The B56 family of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) regulatory subunits encodes differentiation-

induced phosphoproteins that target PP2A to both nucleus and cytoplasm. The Journal of biological chemistry *271*, 22081-22089.

Mercher, T., Coniat, M.B., Monni, R., Mauchauffe, M., Nguyen Khac, F., Gressin, L., Mugneret, F., Leblanc, T., Dastugue, N., Berger, R., *et al.* (2001). Involvement of a human gene related to the Drosophila spen gene in the recurrent t(1;22) translocation of acute megakaryocytic leukemia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *98*, 5776-5779.

Miano, J.M., Cserjesi, P., Ligon, K.L., Periasamy, M., and Olson, E.N. (1994). Smooth muscle myosin heavy chain exclusively marks the smooth muscle lineage during mouse embryogenesis. Circulation research *75*, 803-812.

Miralles, F., Posern, G., Zaromytidou, A.I., and Treisman, R. (2003). Actin dynamics control SRF activity by regulation of its coactivator MAL. Cell *113*, 329-342.

Muehlich, S., Wang, R., Lee, S.M., Lewis, T.C., Dai, C., and Prywes, R. (2008). Serum-induced phosphorylation of the serum response factor coactivator MKL1 by the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 pathway inhibits its nuclear localization. Molecular and cellular biology *28*, 6302-6313.

Mykkanen, O.M., Gronholm, M., Ronty, M., Lalowski, M., Salmikangas, P., Suila, H., and Carpen, O. (2001). Characterization of human palladin, a microfilamentassociated protein. Molecular biology of the cell *12*, 3060-3073.

Otey, C.A., Dixon, R., Stack, C., and Goicoechea, S.M. (2009). Cytoplasmic Igdomain proteins: cytoskeletal regulators with a role in human disease. Cell motility and the cytoskeleton *66*, 618-634.

Otey, C.A., Rachlin, A., Moza, M., Arneman, D., and Carpen, O. (2005). The palladin/myotilin/myopalladin family of actin-associated scaffolds. International review of cytology *246*, 31-58.

Owens, G.K., and Thompson, M.M. (1986). Developmental changes in isoactin expression in rat aortic smooth muscle cells in vivo. Relationship between growth and cytodifferentiation. The Journal of biological chemistry *261*, 13373-13380.

Parast, M.M., and Otey, C.A. (2000). Characterization of palladin, a novel protein localized to stress fibers and cell adhesions. The Journal of cell biology *150*, 643-656.

Pawlowski, R., Rajakyla, E.K., Vartiainen, M.K., and Treisman, R. (2010). An actin-regulated importin alpha/beta-dependent extended bipartite NLS directs nuclear import of MRTF-A. The EMBO journal *29*, 3448-3458.

Pedruzzi, E., Guichard, C., Ollivier, V., Driss, F., Fay, M., Prunet, C., Marie, J.C., Pouzet, C., Samadi, M., Elbim, C., *et al.* (2004). NAD(P)H oxidase Nox-4

mediates 7-ketocholesterol-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in human aortic smooth muscle cells. Molecular and cellular biology *24*, 10703-10717.

Rachlin, A.S., and Otey, C.A. (2006). Identification of palladin isoforms and characterization of an isoform-specific interaction between Lasp-1 and palladin. Journal of cell science *119*, 995-1004.

Rajagopalan, S., Kurz, S., Munzel, T., Tarpey, M., Freeman, B.A., Griendling, K.K., and Harrison, D.G. (1996). Angiotensin II-mediated hypertension in the rat increases vascular superoxide production via membrane NADH/NADPH oxidase activation. Contribution to alterations of vasomotor tone. The Journal of clinical investigation *97*, 1916-1923.

Rao, R.K., and Clayton, L.W. (2002). Regulation of protein phosphatase 2A by hydrogen peroxide and glutathionylation. Biochemical and biophysical research communications *293*, 610-616.

Rhyu, D.Y., Yang, Y., Ha, H., Lee, G.T., Song, J.S., Uh, S.T., and Lee, H.B. (2005). Role of reactive oxygen species in TGF-beta1-induced mitogen-activated protein kinase activation and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in renal tubular epithelial cells. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN *16*, 667-675.

Rocic, P., Seshiah, P., and Griendling, K.K. (2003). Reactive oxygen species sensitivity of angiotensin II-dependent translation initiation in vascular smooth muscle cells. The Journal of biological chemistry *278*, 36973-36979.

Ronty, M., Taivainen, A., Heiska, L., Otey, C., Ehler, E., Song, W.K., and Carpen, O. (2007). Palladin interacts with SH3 domains of SPIN90 and Src and is required for Src-induced cytoskeletal remodeling. Experimental cell research *313*, 2575-2585.

Ronty, M., Taivainen, A., Moza, M., Kruh, G.D., Ehler, E., and Carpen, O. (2005). Involvement of palladin and alpha-actinin in targeting of the Abl/Arg kinase adaptor ArgBP2 to the actin cytoskeleton. Experimental cell research *310*, 88-98.

Ronty, M., Taivainen, A., Moza, M., Otey, C.A., and Carpen, O. (2004). Molecular analysis of the interaction between palladin and alpha-actinin. FEBS letters *566*, 30-34.

Ronty, M.J., Leivonen, S.K., Hinz, B., Rachlin, A., Otey, C.A., Kahari, V.M., and Carpen, O.M. (2006). Isoform-specific regulation of the actin-organizing protein palladin during TGF-beta1-induced myofibroblast differentiation. The Journal of investigative dermatology *126*, 2387-2396.

Ross, R. (1993). The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature *362*, 801-809.

Ross, R. (1999). Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. The New England journal of medicine *340*, 115-126.

Rovner, A.S., Murphy, R.A., and Owens, G.K. (1986). Expression of smooth muscle and nonmuscle myosin heavy chains in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. The Journal of biological chemistry *261*, 14740-14745.

Takahashi, K., Hiwada, K., and Kokubu, T. (1986). Isolation and characterization of a 34,000-dalton calmodulin- and F-actin-binding protein from chicken gizzard smooth muscle. Biochemical and biophysical research communications *141*, 20-26.

Touyz, R.M., Chen, X., Tabet, F., Yao, G., He, G., Quinn, M.T., Pagano, P.J., and Schiffrin, E.L. (2002). Expression of a functionally active gp91phoxcontaining neutrophil-type NAD(P)H oxidase in smooth muscle cells from human resistance arteries: regulation by angiotensin II. Circulation research *90*, 1205-1213.

Ushio-Fukai, M. (2006). Localizing NADPH oxidase-derived ROS. Science's STKE : signal transduction knowledge environment *2006*, re8.

Ushio-Fukai, M., Alexander, R.W., Akers, M., and Griendling, K.K. (1998). p38 Mitogen-activated protein kinase is a critical component of the redox-sensitive signaling pathways activated by angiotensin II. Role in vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy. The Journal of biological chemistry *273*, 15022-15029.

Ushio-Fukai, M., Zafari, A.M., Fukui, T., Ishizaka, N., and Griendling, K.K. (1996). p22phox is a critical component of the superoxide-generating NADH/NADPH oxidase system and regulates angiotensin II-induced hypertrophy in vascular smooth muscle cells. The Journal of biological chemistry *271*, 23317-23321.

Vallet, P., Charnay, Y., Steger, K., Ogier-Denis, E., Kovari, E., Herrmann, F., Michel, J.P., and Szanto, I. (2005). Neuronal expression of the NADPH oxidase NOX4, and its regulation in mouse experimental brain ischemia. Neuroscience *132*, 233-238.

Van Buul, J.D., Fernandez-Borja, M., Anthony, E.C., and Hordijk, P.L. (2005). Expression and localization of NOX2 and NOX4 in primary human endothelial cells. Antioxidants & redox signaling *7*, 308-317.

Vignais, P.V. (2002). The superoxide-generating NADPH oxidase: structural aspects and activation mechanism. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS *59*, 1428-1459.

von Lohneysen, K., Noack, D., Jesaitis, A.J., Dinauer, M.C., and Knaus, U.G. (2008). Mutational analysis reveals distinct features of the Nox4-p22 phox complex. The Journal of biological chemistry *283*, 35273-35282.

Wang, D., Chang, P.S., Wang, Z., Sutherland, L., Richardson, J.A., Small, E., Krieg, P.A., and Olson, E.N. (2001). Activation of cardiac gene expression by myocardin, a transcriptional cofactor for serum response factor. Cell *105*, 851-862.

Wang, D.Z., Li, S., Hockemeyer, D., Sutherland, L., Wang, Z., Schratt, G., Richardson, J.A., Nordheim, A., and Olson, E.N. (2002). Potentiation of serum response factor activity by a family of myocardin-related transcription factors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *99*, 14855-14860.

Wang, H.V., and Moser, M. (2008). Comparative expression analysis of the murine palladin isoforms. Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists *237*, 3342-3351.

Winterbourn, C.C., and Hampton, M.B. (2008). Thiol chemistry and specificity in redox signaling. Free radical biology & medicine *45*, 549-561.

Yu, L., Hebert, M.C., and Zhang, Y.E. (2002). TGF-beta receptor-activated p38 MAP kinase mediates Smad-independent TGF-beta responses. The EMBO journal *21*, 3749-3759.

Zafari, A.M., Ushio-Fukai, M., Akers, M., Yin, Q., Shah, A., Harrison, D.G., Taylor, W.R., and Griendling, K.K. (1998). Role of NADH/NADPH oxidase-derived H2O2 in angiotensin II-induced vascular hypertrophy. Hypertension *32*, 488-495.

Zaromytidou, A.I., Miralles, F., and Treisman, R. (2006). MAL and ternary complex factor use different mechanisms to contact a common surface on the serum response factor DNA-binding domain. Molecular and cellular biology *26*, 4134-4148.